ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. 	 THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED BY DENYING QUALIFIED IMMUNITY 

TO PETITIONERS ON VICTORIA HUGHES'S CLAIM FOR 

WRONGFUL DEATH (COUNT I). 


2. 	 THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED BY DENYING QUALIFIED IMMUNITY 

TO PETITIONERS ON VICTORIA HUGHES' CLAIM OF 

"MISHANDLING OF BODILY REMAINS" (COUNT 11) AND THE 

HUGHES DAUGHTERS' UNMADE CLAIM FOR NEGLIGENT 

INFLICTION OF EMOTIONAL DISTRESS CLAIM. 


STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

I. 	 Factual Background. 

Walter Hughes and Victoria Hughes married in 1962 and had four daughters, 

Kristal Hughes (a/kJa Michelle), Kristina Arntz (a/kIa Tina), Kristie Canfield (a/kJa K.K.), and 

Kristin Hite (a/kIa Sputnik).l Within months of the wedding, Walter began to cheat on 

Victoria2-so often, in fact, that Victoria was unable to even guess how often: "I really can't 

remember. There was so many.,,3 Walter also threatened Victoria, starting "[e]arly on in the 

marriage,,4 and continuing throughout,5 although as would become a pattern in the family, she 

never sought a domestic violence order or did anything else to stop him.6 

A. 	 Spring and summer 2012. 

Early in 2012, Victoria noted changes in Walter's behavior and, given that she 

"had been through it before,,,7 suspected that he was again cheating on her. On April 7, 2012, 

(Joint App'x ("JA") at 48 ~ 2.) 
2 	 (JA at 100-01.) 

(JA at 101.) 
4 	 (JAat 96.) 

(JAat 97.) 
6 	 (JA at 96.) 
7 	 (JA at 100.) 
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she confronted Walter,8 and he confirmed her suspicion.9 This time, she considered divorcing 

him, and she moved out. IO On April 11, Walter threatened to commit suicide, dramatically left 

his wallet, phone, jewelry, and all of his money on the counter, II and left the family home. 12 

Victoria testified that Walter had threatened suicide several times before, beginning when they 

were dating,13 always whenever she did not do what he wanted.14 April 11 was no different, and 

within minutes, he returned home unharmed. 1 S 

Victoria never believed that Walter intended to harm himself on April 11; 

instead, she believed that he was just trying to scare her,16 and it never occurred to her to seek 

help for him because she ''just thought he was mean.,,17 Victoria even testified that later the 

same day, she and Walter hosted an Easter egg hunt for the children of friends and family, and 

"[i]f people hadn't have known anything was going on, they would have never known because 

we could put on a good front,,,18 a skill that he would use again two days later: 

Q You were married to Mr. Hughes for a long time. Was he able to 
put on a front for people? 

A Oh, he was so good at it, but then so was I. People thought we had 
the perfect marriage. 

(JA at 111.) 

(JA at 102.) 
9 (JAat49,13.) 
10 (JA at 94, 103.) 
11 (JA at 105-{)6.) 
12 (JA at 106.) 
13 (JA at 105.) 
14 (JAat 105.) 
IS (JA at 106.) 
16 (JAat 108.) 
17 (JA at 107.) 
18 (JAat 107.) 
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Victoria became convinced that Walter was going to harm her. Again, however, 

neither she nor the couple's daughters ever called the police, which Victoria justified by saying, 

"I have never called the police when things happened"; she "never even thought of it.,,19 

Nevertheless, given Walter's history and the incident, Victoria called Kristie on April 12, 2012, 

left the Hughes residence, and moved into a hotel in Winchester, Virginia. 20 

On Friday morning, April 13, 2012, Krista! confronted Walter about his most 

recent affair, and although he initially denied it, he ultimately confessed to her.21 She described 

Walter as normal, not agitated, and certainly not suicidal. 22 

Later that day, Kristina called Kristal and said that she (Kristina) wanted to get 

some things from the Hughes house for their mother, Victoria.23 Walter was not home at the 

time, but Walter, Krista!, and Kristina arranged to meet at the house.24 When they arrived, 

Kristal went upstairs to retrieve Victoria's personal effects, and Walter and Kristina remained 

downstairs.2S At some point, Walter revealed to Kristina, "I have been fucking around on your 

mother her whole Iife,,,26 and as a result, the two got into a shouting match over Walter's 

infidelities. Kristina testified that Walter "turned around and he lunged at me with his - and he 

had his gun like this [indicating] pointing it at me" and said, " 'This is what you want. This is 

what you want, Kristina.' ,,27 Hearing Kristina scream, Kristal came downstairs.28 Walter then 

19 (JAat 109.) 
20 (JA at 96, 104,108, 109,49,14.) 
21 (JAat294.) 
22 (JAat294.) 
23 (JA at 49, 15, 116.) 
24 (JA at 49, 16,116.) 
2S (JAat49, 17,117.) 
26 (JAat49-50~ 18-23,117-19.) 
'rI (JA at 119-20.) 
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"put [a gun] in his chest and said, 'I'm going to blow my fucking heart out.' ,,29 The three 

continued arguing, when, according to the two daughters, Walter again threatened to kill himself: 

"'You'd better say goodbye to me, Kristina. This is the last time you'll ever speak to me.' He 

had said also he would be dead by midnight.,,3o Kristina and Kristalleft the house and went to 

Kristal's house across the street.3! Instead of calling the police, however,32 Kristina and Kristal 

retrieved Kristal's children and drove to the Martinsburg barracks of the West Virginia State 

Police.33 On the way, they also called Kristal's boyfriend, Todd Jones, and asked him to come 

home (i.e., to his and Kristal's house).34 

Precisely what happened when Kristina and Krista! arrived at the West Virginia 

State Police barracks is disputed, but for the purposes of the instant appeal, Petitioners accept 

arguendo Kristina and Kristal's version. According to them, they spoke with West Virginia 

State Police employee Barbara Boward, who (along with another FBI-certified coworker) is one 

ofthe first people visitors to the barracks normally encounter.35 Kristina and Kristal testified that 

they told Ms. Boward both that Walter had threatened to kill himself and that Walter had 

threatened Kristina.36 Ms. Boward tried to calm the daughters down and get the pertinent details 

from Kristina.37 Krista! testified that Ms. Boward told the daughters, "Everything would be 

28 (JA at 49, 18, 119,295.) 
29 (JA at 50~ 21-22, 120.) 
30 (JA at 120-21,295.) 
31 (JA at 50,24, 122.) 
32 (JAat 122.) 
33 (JA at 50, 26, 50, 122.) 
34 (JA at 50,25, 156.) 
35 (JAat 326.) 
36 (JA at 50,27, 122-23.) Ms. Boward is "absolutely positive" that neither reported to that Walter 
had threatened Kristina. (JA at 329.) As demonstrated infra, it does not matter which version is correct. 

(JAat 128.) 
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okay; help was on the way.,,38 Neither daughter told Ms. Boward that they wanted to ta1k to the 

Troopers who were responding to the call. 39 

At 12:50 p.m., the West Virginia State Police dispatcher put a call out to any 

available unit for "a male subject [who] was threatening suicide with a ftrearm."4O Trooper First 

Class Joshua Andrew Ware (''Trooper Ware") was the first to answer the call.4! Corporal Joseph 

B. Flanigan ("Corporal Flanigan") and then Trooper First Class M.D. Gillmore (''Trooper First 

Class Gillmore") also answered the call shortly thereafter.42 All three Troopers proceeded to the 

Hughes house.43 While Kristina and Kristal were at the barracks reporting the incident, Todd 

Jones had arrived at the house he shared with Kristal. Jones went over to check on Walter, and 

the two discussed Walter's inftdelity and the situation that it had caused.44 Jones testified that he 

was not concerned about his safety.45 While the two men were ta1king, Walter's brother Stacy 

pulled up.46 Walter asked, Stacy, what Stacy wanted, Stacy said, "Making sure you're all right," 

Walter responded, "I'm ftne," and Walter and Jones resumed their conversation. 47 Jones testifted 

that after speaking with Walter, he did not believe that Walter was suicidal, so he left.48 

38 (JAat 146.) 
39 (JAat 125.) 
40 (JA at 50,28, 171, 177, 181,345.) 
41 (JA at 171, 177.) 
42 (JAat 171, 187.) 
43 (JA at 171.) 
44 (JA at 153-54.) 
45 (JAat 157.) 
46 (JAat 318.) 
47 (JAat 318.) 
48 (JA at 165-66, 158.) 
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Within a minute or two after Jones left, the Troopers arrived, so Jones waited 

along the road while the Troopers spoke with Walter.49 Just four minutes after the call had gone 

out, Corporal Flanigan arrived, then Trooper Ware, then Trooper First Class Gillmore.5o 

Corporal Flanigan made first contact with Walter and spoke with him: 

A 	 I spoke with Mr. Hughes, explained to him why I was there, and I 
asked him if he felt like harming himself or ifhe had a weapon on 
him. And he chuckled and said "no." And that's when he 
proceeded to explain to me that he was caught cheating on his wife 
again. His daughters were upset. 

And I explained to him the report of him threatening himself. He 
again laughed and said no, he'd not-had no intention whatsoever 
of harming himself, or hurting himself: or anybody else. I 
explained to him I needed to pat him down, just to make sure he 
didn't have a weapon on him. He said, That's fme.' He said he 
did have guns, but they were upstairs. I patted Mr. Hughes down, 
and he had no weapons on him at all, and there was none even in 
the vicinity of the-I guess like the foyer/entryway there of the 
house. 

**** 
A 	 I remember part ofthe reason he said his wife was so upset and his 

daughters were upset, I believe the woman he got caught having an 
affair with was 30, 36 years old, somewhere in that age range. 
And he said it wasn't the first time it's happened, and his wife had 
threatened to leave him but-we just basically bantered back and 
forth about that and why he cheated on her. 

And he went on to advise him-I believe he said he was retired 
and just general conversation, talking to him, trying to get a feel if 
he was actually going to hurt himself or not. 

**** 
A 	 After I spoke with him and he reiterated again that he had no 

intentions of harming himself or hurting himself and he wasn't 
going to commit suicide, I spoke with the gentleman outside again, 
upon leaving, and I explained to him that he's not making any 
threats to himself. He wasn't distraught. He wasn't emotional. 
He was calm. 

(JA at 50,32, 159.) 
so (JA at 50,33,336,345, 171-72.) 
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And I told him-I said, We can't take his guns from the house.[] I 
said, We don't have that right. We can't just take the gentleman's 
guns when he's not making threats to himself or anybody else.[] 

I explained to him that if he or the family wanted to remove the 
guns from the residence, they could, either to get him out of the 
house, take him to dinner, just go for a walk somewhere, but the 
family members or somebody had to remove the guns, that we 
could not do that. I also explained to him the options of getting a 
mental hygiene done through the sheriffs office. If they felt it was 
necessary, they could file a petition. 

**** 
A 	 I gave dispatch a brief rundown of what happened after I left, 


exactly-I explained speaking with him: He was calm. He was 

rational. He wasn't threatening to hurt himself The male 

subject-I'm sorry, I did-I advised him [Jones] just to have 

somebody remain with him [Walter Hughes]. 


I did tell him [Todd Jones] that before I left; that if they were 
worried about him [Walter Hughes], I said, There's nothing we 
can do. They're not going to lock him up at this point. I can't take 
him into custody when he's not making threats in my presence or 
doing anything irrational. Stay with him.' I did instruct him of 
that, and I told dispatch and stuff that over the radio, as well. 

**** 

Q Okay. But you're telling me he didn't appear emotionally upset 


when you talked to him? 


A 	 No, sir. He was completely calm and rational. 
**** 

I specifically asked him if he was go ing to kill himself, and he said 
no. I asked him if he wanted to go to the hospital to talk to 
somebody, and he said no. And he was calm and he -- he was 
completely rational. 

(JA at 178-82.) 

Trooper Ware, who had overheard some ofCorporal Flanigan's conversation with 

Walter Hughes, also testified that Walter appeared far from suicidal: 

Corporal Flanigan was talking to him. I don't remember what 
exactly was said. Mr. Hughes' demeanor was not agitated. He 
wasn't emotional. He was speaking to us just like you and I are 
speaking right now. 
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He denied, you know-I don't know-I can't remember 
specifically how or what he would have said, but he made 
numerous---numerous times that, you know, he was not going to 
harm himself; he didn't wish to harm himselt: any ofthose things. 

(JA at 172; see also id. (noting that Walter appeared "calm and collected, normal") and ("He's 

not showing any signs ot: you know, wanting to harm himself. There's no evidence he was 

attempting to harm himself with a firearm.").) 

After speaking with Walter and concluding that he was not a threat to himseIt: the 

Troopers left.51 On his way out, Corporal Flanigan spoke with Todd Jones and advised him that 

they could not take Walter into custody because he showed no signs ofbeing suicidal, but that if 

the Hugheses wanted Walter's guns out of the house, they were free to arrange to take Walter 

somewhere for dinner and remove the guns themselves, and that they could call EMS for another 

evaluation or pursue a mental hygiene petition against Walter if they believed it was warranted;52 

Jones disputes that the Troopers told him about the EMS or mental hygiene options. 53 

According to Kristina, after the Troopers left, Ms. Boward advised Kristina and 

Kristal at the barracks, "'Okay, girls. You can leave now. Everything is okay.' And I remember 

my sister saying, 'So did they take him to the hospital?' And she [Ms. Boward] said, 'No. They 

said he was fine.' ,,54 Neither Kristina nor Kristal asked to speak with the Troopers,55 and neither 

made any further efforts to contact law enforcement, health professionals, or anyone else. 56 

51 (JAat 173.) 
51 (JA at 50,32, 172, 189.) 
53 (JAat 171-72.) 
54 (JA at 124; see also JA at 143.) 
ss (JAat 125.) 
56 (JAat 144.) 
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Instead, the family convened in the parking lot of a nearby grocery store.57 They 

then separated into groups, with Kristina eventually returning to her mother (see infra), and 

Kristal and her family visiting stores.58 Jones testified that he had come to believe that Walter 

was suicidal, but that he felt the best course ofaction was to leave Walter alone, believing that he 

''would settle down."s9 Jones was unable to explain in his deposition why he felt that the passage 

oftime would fix the problem if he truly believed that Walter was suicida1.6o 

At 2:39 p.m.., Walter sent Kristina a text message saying that she could tell 

Victoria that Victoria could move back in tomorrow, and where to fmd an $82,000 check. 61 

Kristina did not respond, nor-again-did she call the police or seek any other help.62 Instead, 

she drove to Leesburg, Virginia, where Victoria had gone, and told her that ''there was nothing 

else we could do. He had - he was going to do it, and there was nothing we could do.,,63 

Kristina and Todd Jones eventually returned home around 7:30 p.m..-some six 

hours after having met at the grocery store.64 Jones looked across the street at Walter's house 

and saw no lights or movement.65 So around 8:00 or 8:30 p.m.., by then six hours after receiving 

Walter's text message, the Hughes family decided to call the West Virginia State Police and ask 

for a welfare check on Walter.66 Troopers Berry and French (non-parties) arrived and searched 

57 (JAat 145, 162.) 
58 (JA at 51 136, 145.) 
59 (JAat 164.) 
60 (JA at 166-67.) 
61 (JA at 312-13.) 
62 (JA at 313.) 
63 (JA at 128-29.) 
64 (JAat 145.) 
65 (JA at 51 "37-38, 145.) 
66 (JA at 51 139, 128.) 
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the house for Walter, but did not locate him.67 They did locate Walter's wallet, cell phone, and 

the $82,000 check referred to in his text message, and a typed suicide note. 68 Trooper Berry 

recommended that Kristal file a missing person report, which she did that night.69 

Thereafter, both the family and the West Virginia State Police (first, Trooper 

Berry, and later Corporal Ryan D. Eshbaugh ("Corporal Eshbaugh") when the missing person 

case was assigned to him after Trooper Berry transferred on May 7, 20127°) took significant 

steps to locate Walter Hughes. The Hughes family conducted extensive searches of the area of 

Walter's house, including a nearby shale pit. The week after his disappearance, the Hugheses 

had one hundred people and two K9s conduct a foot search of the shale pit, but they found 

nothing. Gary Arntz, Kristina's husband, searched the shale pit and surrounding areas every day 

from April 14, 2012, until at least August 2012, from the time that he got offof work until dark, 

but found nothing. Corporal Eshbaugh also searched the area with a K9, to no avail. 

B. Fall 2012. 

On November 29, 2012, Berkeley County 911 transferred to the West Virginia 

State Police71 a call from some people who had been trespassing in the shale pit near Walter and 

Victoria's house reporting that they had located a human skull.72 Corporal Zachary L. Nine 

("Corporal Nine") took the call and was the first to arrive. 73 The 20-plus-acre shale pit was 

abandoned and overgrown with unmaintained foliage, brush, and other vegetation. 74 Shortly 

67 (JA at 51 W40-41.) 
68 (JA at 51 ~ 43, 110, 148.) 
69 (JA at 51 ~ 44.) 
70 (JA at 51 W45-46.) 
71 (JAat 209.) 
72 (JA at 197-98,205.) 
73 (JA at 205.) 
74 (JAat 215.) 
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thereafter, Corporal Eshbaugh (still the investigating officer in Walter Hughes's missing person 

investigation) and Sergeant J.M. Walker ("Sergeant Walker") arrived.7S 

After the Troopers interviewed the 911 caller, Sergeant Walker drove his vehicle 

around in order to see how expansive the area to be searched was based on his experience and 

the information the callers had provided.76 Corporal Nine and Corporal Eshbaugh then began the 

first of what would be three searches of the area that afternoon for additional remains.77 As they 

encountered items, they marked around them with green paint.78 By the end of the first search, 

they had discovered a jacket, pants, and belt, a pill box, and what appeared to be a human skull, 

rib bones, vertebrae, arm. bones, leg bones, jaw bone, and other bones.79 The items were spread 

over an area of about six thousand square feet.80 Corporal Nine called Lieutenant Lambert, the 

crime scene team ("CST') supervisor, to activate the CST to respond to document and collect the 

items.8l When Lambert approved Nine's request, Nine drove to the Martinsburg detachment to 

retrieve the CST's truck (which contained tools and supplies needed for the recovery and 

documentation ofwhat they had located82). Trooper First Class Jeanette D. See (nee Schuessler) 

("Trooper First Class See") was also called to respond as a member ofthe CST. 83 

7S (JA at 197,205.) 
76 (JA at 206-07, 215 (describing process used to reach decision about areas to cover).) 
77 (JA at 198,206.) 
78 (JAat206.) 
79 (JA at 206-07, 208-00, 210, 214-15, 371, 419-20.) 
80 (JA at 214, 411.) 
81 (JAat207.) 
82 (JA at 205, 207.) 
83 (JAat 213.) 
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Corporal Eshbaugh and Corporal Nine advised Trooper First Class See of the 

situation.84 The three then made a second pass through the area to photograph, document, and 

collect the items that had been found in the first search and to search for additional items. 

Corporal Nine took photographs; Corporal Eshbaugh documented what each photograph 

represented and where it was located (with GPS); and Trooper First Class See took 

measurements and made a schematic diagram indicating where each item had been found. 85 

After the Troopers completed their second sweep of the area, Trooper First Class 

See made a third and:final search of the area where the items had been located in an effort to find 

anything left.86 She located no further remains, but did find a pistol, 87 which she turned over to 

Corporal Eshbaugh, who logged it into evidence. They did not locate any more remains or other 

objects during their second or the third searches, but the Troopers had been searching for items 

the whole time they were there; it would just happen to turn out that they found everything they 

would fmd during their fIrst pass of the difficult area.88 The circuit court would use this fact to 

justify calling the Troopers' efforts a "failure to search.,,89 

The Berkeley County medical examiner, Curtis Keller, was contacted, and all of 

the items (except for the gun) were turned over to him.90 Corporal Nine, representing the CST, 

and Corporal Eshbaugh, as the missing person report investigating officer, met, discussed what 

had been located, the nature of the scene, and so on, and concluded that they had found and 

84 (JA at 403-04.) 
85 (JA at 199-200,205,209,364.) 
86 (JA at 215, 412,416.) 
87 (JA at 215, 412, 198.) 
88 (JAat 210.) 
89 (See discussion infra.) 
90 (JA at 209.) 
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recovered everything that they were going to under the circumstances. 91 Corporal Nine had to 

balance their desire to continue the search the following day (it was beginning to get dark) 

against the conditions at the site, the likelihood that there were additional remains to be 

discovered given the time and conditions since Mr. Hughes's suicide, and the police resources 

necessary to press the search into another day-resources that he would have had to take away 

from other law enforcement activities. Corporal Eshbaugh testified that the search was 

reasonable under the circumstances and that he would not have done anything any differently:

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