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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

Petitioners have appealed the circuit court's July 13,2015 order denying their Motion for 

Summary Judgment based upon qualified immunity. The Court in its review must apply the same 

standard for granting summary judgment as would be applied by the circuit court. 

The public duty doctrine and its "special relationship" exception are applicable to 

Respondents' claims against Petitioners. Petitioners assumed an affirmative duty to act on behalf 

of Walter Hughes; knew their inaction could lead to harm; and had direct contact with 

Respondents. Respondents reasonably relied on the Petitioners to take action to protect Walter 

Hughes from himself or others. 

Had the state troopers who responded to Walter Hughes' residence known that Mr. 

Hughes had threatened his daughter with a handgun they would have arrested him for domestic 

assault and confiscated his weapons. Since the troopers did not have knowledge of the domestic 

assault they failed to arrest Mr. Hughes. The negligent omission in this case was Barbara 

Boward's failure to provide critical information to the troopers. Ms. Boward testified that she 

"absolutely" would have transmitted this information to the troopers but she was never informed 
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that Mr. Hughes had threatened his daughter with the handgun. Whether Ms. Boward knew or 

did not know this information is a disputed fact question. Should the jury conclude that she knew 

of Hughes' threat to his daughter, Boward breached a nondiscretionary duty to transmit this vital 

information to the state troopers. 

Petitioners claim they diligently conducted a search for the bodily remains of Walter 

Hughes. Respondents contend that the facts support a much different version of what actually 

occurred. It is undisputed that the bodily remains recovered by the state police on November 29, 

2012 were discovered during the eight minute period between Corporal Eshbaugh's arrival at 

1:17 p.m. and Corporal Nine's call to activate the crime scene response team at 1:25 p.m. The 

next day Respondents readily observed a pelvic bone, an arm bone, vertebra, rib and finger 

bones, part of a jaw bone and Walter Hughes' lower dentures all within several inches to several 

feet from the concrete blocks and wooden pallet where Mr. Hughes had died. A reasonable 

inference to be drawn is that the state troopers collected only what was immediately visible upon 

their arrival at the crime scene. Should the jury adopt this inference, Petitioners breached a non

discretionary duty to conduct a search for Walter Hughes' remains. 

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

Respondents concur with Petitioners' request for W. Va. R. App. P. 20 oral arguments. 

ARGUMENT 

I. Standard of Review 

Petitioners have appealed the circuit court's July 13,2015 order denying their Motion for 

Summary Judgment. The Petitioners contend that the circuit court erred when it determined that 
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they were not entitled to qualified immunity as a matter oflaw. The Court's review of the circuit 

court order is de novo. SyI. Pt. 1, Painter v. Peavy, 192 W.Va. 189, 451 S.E.2d 755 (1994). In 

undertaking this review, the Court should apply the same standard for granting summary 

judgment as would be applied by the circuit court. Subcarrier Commc 'ns, Inc. v. Nield, 218 

W.Va. 292, 296, 624 S.E.2d 729, 733 (2005). That standard of review is well established and 

well known: "A motion for summary judgment should be granted only when it is clear that there 

is no genuine issue of fact to be tried and inquiry concerning the facts is not desirable to clarify 

the application of the law." SyI. Pt. 3, Aetna Casualty & Sur. Co. v. Federal Ins. Co. of New 

York, 148 W. Va. 160, 133 S.E.2d 770 (1963). In accord, Syi. Pt. 1, Andrick v. Town of 

Buckhannon, 187 W.Va. 706,421 S.E.2d 247 (1992); SyI. Pt. 1, Williams v. Precision Coil, Inc., 

194 W.Va. 52,459 S.E.2d 329 (1995); Syi. Pt. 3, Evans v. Mutual Mining, 199 W.Va. 526,485 

S.E.2d 695 (1997). 

The Court's function is not to weigh the evidence and determine the truth of the matter 

but to determine whether there is a genuine issue for trial. Summary judgment should be denied 

even where there is no dispute as to the evidentiary facts in the case but only as to the 

conclusions to be drawn therefrom. Williams v. Precision Coil, Inc., 194 W.Va. 52, 59, 459 

S.E.2d 329, 336 (1995), quoting Pierce v. Ford Motor Co., 190 F.2d 910, 915 (4th Cir.), cert. 

denied, 342 U.S. 887,72 S.Ct. 178,96 L.Ed. 666 (1951). 

II. 	 Petitioners Breached a Duty to Respondents Arising Under the Special Relationship 

Exception to the Public Duty Doctrine 

The public duty doctrine and its "special relationship" exception apply to W. Va. Code 

§ 29-12-5 actions against the State and its instrumentalities, unless the doctrine is expressly 
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waived or altered by the terms of the applicable insurance contract. Syl. Pt. 10, Parkulo v. West 

Virginia Bd o/Prob. and Parole, 199 W.Va. 161,483 S.E.2d 507 (1996). 

The four requirements for the application of the "special relationship" exception are: (1) 

An assumption by the state governmental entity, through promises or actions, of an affirmative 

duty to act on behalf of the party who was injured; (2) knowledge on the part of the state 

governmental entity's agents that inaction could lead to harm; (3) some form of direct contact 

between the state governmental entity's agents and the injured party; and (4) that party's 

justifiable reliance on the state governmental entity's affirmative undertaking. Syl. Pt. 12, 

Parkulo v. West Virginia Bd o/Prob. and Parole, 199 W.Va. 161,483 S.E.2d 507 (1996). 

The question of whether a special duty arises to protect an individual from a State 

governmental entity's negligence is ordinarily a question of fact for the trier of facts." Syl. Pt. 11, 

Parkulo v. West Virginia Bd. o/Prob. and Parole, 199 W.Va. 161,483 S.E.2d 507 (1996). 

The circuit court relied upon the following facts in ruling that existence of a special duty 

was a question of fact for the jury. Kristina Arntz and Kristal Hughes drove to the state police 

barracks and reported that their father had a gun and was threatening to kill himself and had 

threatened his daughter. They were told by the office assistant designated to take complaints that 

they could not leave the barracks but she would dispatch the police to their father's residence. 

The information regarding Mr. Hughes threatening to kill himself was provided to the dispatcher 

and the state police responded to the call. The state police spent approximately fifteen minutes 

, speaking with Mr. Hughes and left without taking any action. After the troopers had left the 

residence, the daughters were informed that everything was "okay" and they were free to go. 

The state troopers involved acknowledged that they assumed a duty to act on Walter Hughes' 

behalf to protect him from harming himself or others. The troopers also acknowledged that when 
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the daughters travelled to the state police barracks and made their report, they expected the state 

police to take action to protect Walter Hughes from harming himself or others. 

The circuit court determined that a jury would be entitled to conclude that (1) Petitioners 

assumed an affirmative duty to act on behalf of Walter Hughes; (2) that Petitioners knew that 

inaction on their part could lead to harm; (3) that Respondents' visit to the state police barracks 

was a form of direct contact as was the state police contact with Walter Hughes; and (4) it was 

reasonable for Respondents to rely on the state police to take action. The circuit court correctly 

ruled that a properly instructed jury would be entitled to find that Petitioners assumed a duty to 

act when they responded to the Respondents' entreaties and that Respondents justifiably relied 

upon this undertaking. 

III. 	 Petitioners Breached a Duty to Respondents in the Handling Walter Hughes's 

Bodily Remains 

A cause of action exists for the negligent mishandling a dead body even where the 

handling is otherwise authorized. Whitehair v. Highland Memory Gardens, Inc., 174 W.Va. 458, 

327 S.E.2d 438 (1985). In this case, the circuit court detemlined that a reasonable jury could 

conclude that Petitioners were negligent in the handling of Walter Hughes' remains. In making 

this finding the circuit court relied upon the following facts. 

Pursuant to standard police practices, Petitioners were required to conduct a crime scene 

investigation, collect all the evidence, including the human remains, and turn the remains over to 

the medical examiner for identification of the body, cause of death, and eventual disposition of 

the remains to the family of the decedent for burial. 
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Corporal Nine, who was in charge of the crime scene investigation, admitted that when 

the State Police conduct a crime scene investigation involving bodily remains they should do a 

careful search for all available bodily remains and collect all the bodily remains available at the 

scene. In addition, they should continue their search until all bodily remains available at the 

scene have been collected. 

All the bodily remains recovered by the state police during the crime scene investigation 

were actually discovered during Corporal Nine's initial walk through which took eight minutes 

or less. All these remains were found within a fifty foot radius from the concrete blocks and 

wooden pallet where Walter Hughes took his life. 

The following day the family visited the location where the body was discovered to leave 

flowers. They immediately discovered a pelvic bone, an arm bone, a vertebra, rib and finger 

bones and part of a jaw bone as well as Walter Hughes' bottom dentures. All the bones and the 

bottom denture were discovered within several feet of the concrete blocks and pallet. The family 

did not search for these bones. The bones were readily observable in the location where the body 

was found. 

On December 3,2012, a fourth daughter, Kristen Hite, who had traveled to West Virginia 

from Germany, wished to visit the location where her father's remains were found. Kristen went 

to the site accompanied by Victoria Hughes, Kristina Arntz, and Kristie Canfield. The family 

discovered another femur bone approximately fifteen feet from the concrete blocks and wooden 

pallet. 

A few days later Kristina Arntz spoke with a friend, Steve Parrish, at her father's 

memorial service. He offered to search the area where the remains were found. He located the 
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shell casing from the bullet which killed Walter Hughes approximately six to eight feet from the 

pallet where remains were found. 

The circuit court ruled that Victoria Hughes, as the surviving spouse of Walter Hughes, 

was the proper party to prosecute the claim for negligent mishandling of her husband's remains. 

The circuit court further ruled that the facts supported a negligent infliction of emotional distress 

claim on behalf of each daughter pursuant to West Virginia precedent establishing that "[a]n 

individual may recover for the negligent infliction of emotional dan1ages absent accompanying 

physical injury upon a showing of facts sufficient to guarantee that the emotional damages claim 

is not spurious." Syl. pt.2, Ricottilli v. Summersville Memorial Hospital, 188 W.Va. 635, 482 

S.E.2d 620 (W.Va. 1997); Marlin v. Bill Rich Canst., Inc., 198 W.Va. 635, 482 S.E.2d 620 

(1997). The court found that Respondents had made a sufficient showing that their emotional 

distress damages claims were not spurious by producing expert psychological testimony 

establishing severe emotional distress experienced as a result of discovering the bodily remains 

of their father. (JA at 792, 793) 

IV. Qualified Immunity is Not Available for Non-Discretionary Acts 

The Court must identify the nature of the governmental acts or omissions which give rise 

to the suit for purposes of determining whether such acts or omissions constitute legislative, 

judicial, executive or administrative policy-making acts or otherwise involve discretionary 

governmental functions. Syl. Pt. 10, W. Va. Reg'l Jail and Carr. Facility Auth. v. A.B., _ 

W.Va._, 766 S.E.2d 751 (2014). Qualified immunity has no application to non-discretionary 

government functions nor does it affect the liability of the State, its agencies, officials and 

employees for actions based upon ministerial functions of government agencies or officers. See 
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Clark v. Dunn, 195 W. Va. 272,278 n.2, 465 S.E.2d at 380 n.2 ("This opinion does not address 

causes of action arising out of ministerial functions of government agencies or officers. If). In the 

instant case the acts or omissions giving rise to the suit do not constitute legislative, judicial, 

executive or administrative policy-making acts or otherwise involve discretionary governmental 

functions. 

A. Qualified Immunity Has No Application to Respondents' Wrongful Death Claim 

The state troopers who responded to Walter Hughes' residence have testified that had 

they known that Mr. Hughes had threatened his daughter with a handgun they would have 

arrested Mr. Hughes for domestic assault and confiscated his weapons. The exercise of discretion 

to effectuate the arrest Walter Hughes is therefore not in issue. However, since the troopers did 

not have knowledge of the domestic assault they failed to arrest Mr. Hughes. The negligent 

omission in this case was the failure of Barbara Boward to provide this information to the 

troopers. Her failure to provide this information was not a discretionary act. Ms. Boward 

testified that she "absolutely" would have transmitted this information to the troopers because "if 

[Mr. Hughes] is going to point a gun at his daughter, chances are he's going to point it at a state 

trooper, and the troopers needed to be aware of that." If the jury ultimately concludes that she 

knew of the threat to the daughter, Ms. Boward breached a nondiscretionary duty on her part to 

transmit this vital information to the state troopers. Since this duty was within the scope of her 

employment her negligence is attributable to the State Police under the doctrine of respondeat 

superior. 
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B. 	 Qualified Immunity has No Application to Petitioners' Claim of Mishandling the 
Remains of Walter Hughes 

Petitioners contend the facts support the inference that they diligently conducted a search 

for the bodily remains of Walter Hughes and eventually exercised their discretion to conclude the 

search. Respondents, however, contend that the facts support a much different version of what 

actually occurred. The Court must adopt Respondents' version for the purposes of assessing 

Petitioners' claim of qualified immunity. It is undisputed from the testimony of Corporal Nine 

(and police records in the case) that the bodily remains recovered on November 29, 2012 were 

discovered during the eight minute period between Corporal Eshbaugh's arrival at 1: 17 p.m. and 

Corporal Nine's call to activate the crime scene response team at 1 :25 p.m. The only item of 

evidence not discovered during this eight minute period was the handgun which was later found 

underneath the remains when they were moved after being photographed. Thus, although the 

state troopers remained at the crime scene until 5 :00 p.m. while they marked, photographed, and 

collected the evidence found between 1: 17 p.m. and 1:25 p.m., there is no record of any 

additional bodily remains being located. The very next day the Respondents were able to readily 

discover a pelvic bone, an arm bone, vertebra, rib and finger bones, part of a jaw bone and 

Walter Hughes' lower dentures within several inches to several feet from the concrete blocks and 

wooden pallet where Walter Hughes had died. Petitioners have failed to provide any plausible 

explanation how these bodily remains were easily observed by Respondents but could not be 

found by Petitioners conducting a crime scene search. Respondents submit the only reasonable 

inference to be drawn is that the state troopers marked, photographed and collected only what 

was immediately visible upon arrival at the crime scene but conducted no search for bodily 

remains. Should a jury adopt this reasonable inference, neither the individual state troopers nor 

the West Virginia State Police would entitled to qualified immunity. No discretionary decision 
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by the individual officers is being challenged. Plaintiffs are claiming the State Police negligently 

failed to search despite the existence of a clear non-discretionary duty to conduct a search for all 

available bodily remains. Since the individual officers were operating within the scope of their 

employment, that negligence is attributed to the State Police under the doctrine of respondeat 

superior. 

CONCLUSION 

Respondents Victoria Hughes, Kristina Arntz, Kristal Hughes and Kristie Canfield